
TO: James P. Hoffa, IBT General President 
FROM: Members of the Independent Review Board 
DATE: October 22, 2007 
RE: Proposed Charges Against Local 251 Member Glenn Teolis 

I. RECOMMENDATION 
The Independent Review Board ("IRB") refers the below report to the IBT 

General President and recommends that charges be filed against Local 251 member and 
former International Project Coordinator Glenn Teolis ("Teolis") for embezzling union 
funds and failing to cooperate with the IRB. As detailed below, the evidence showed that 
Teolis engaged in a pattern of submitting falsified expense reports and receipts to induce 
the IBT to pay credit card charges for meals the cost of which exceeded the IBT's 
maximum allowable meal expense rates. This resulted in the conversion of 
approximately $2,209.88 in IBT funds. The evidence also showed that, after being 
informed that the Chief Investigator intended to question him about the allegedly falsified 
expense records, Teolis failed to cooperate with the IRB by failing to appear for his 
scheduled examination, which had been repeatedly postponed at his request. 

By his conduct, it appears that, while an IBT member and International Project 
Coordinator, Teolis violated Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1), (2) 
and (3) and Section 14(i) of the IBT Constitution, and that, while an IBT member, Teolis 
violated Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1) and (2) and Section 
14(i) of the IBT Constitution. 



II. JURISDICTION 
Pursuant to Article XIX, Section 14 (c) of the IBT Constitution, this disciplinary 

matter is within the jurisdiction of the IBT General President. Paragraph (G) (e) of the 
March 14, 1989 Consent Order in United States v. IBT, 88 Civ. 4486 (S.D.N.Y.) and 
Paragraph I (6) of the Rules and Procedures for Operation of the Independent Review 
Board ("IRB Rules") require that within 90 days of the IRB's referral of a matter to an 
IBT entity, that entity must file with the IRB written findings setting forth the specific 
action taken and the reasons for that action. Pursuant to Paragraph I (9) of the IRB Rules, 
not meeting this deadline may be considered a failure to cooperate with the IRB. 
III. INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS 

A. Glenn Teolis' Local 251 Membership and IBT Employment 
Local 251 is located in East Providence, Rhode Island. It has approximately 

5,000 members employed in the construction, freight, warehousing, health care, and 
movie industries in Rhode Island and southeastern Massachusetts. (Ex. 1) According to 
IBT records, Glenn Teolis has been a member of Local 251 since 1998. (Ex. 2) 

On July 7, 2003, upon the recommendation of Local 251's then principal officer, 
Stuart Mundy, the IBT hired Teolis as a Project Organizer, which was an organizing 
position. (Ex. 3) Teolis was assigned to organizing projects involving several Waste 
Management, Inc. facilities in Massachusetts, professional boxers in the Rhode Island 
area, and a General Dynamics/Electric Boat facility in Rhode Island ("Electric Boat"). 
(Ex. 4 at 35-36, 42, 106-07) The locus of the Electric Boat campaign was a restaurant 
near the Electric Boat facility called Pelly's 19 t h Hole. (Ex. 5 at 9-10) Teolis continued 
as a Project Coordinator until May 20, 2005, when the IBT terminated him. (Ex. 6) 
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B. Teolis' Embezzlement and False Records in Connection with His 
Alleged Meal Expenses 

As explained below, Teolis embezzled approximately $2,209.88 from the IBT by 
falsely representing in his business expense records that certain persons were present for 
meals, when in fact they were absent. 

1. IBT Policy 
The IBT's travel and business related expense policy established upper limits for 

meal expenses employees incurred in the performance of their duties. From July 1, 2001 
to August 31, 2004, the maximum amount allowed for lunch was $35 per person, and for 
dinner the amount was $65 per person. (Ex. 7 at 9) Effective September 1, 2004, the 
maximum lunch rate was reduced from $35 to $28 per person, while the maximum dinner 
rate remained at $65 per person. (Ex. 8 at 12) The policy made clear that "these limits 
are maximums and should not be viewed as the customary or usual amount to spend on 
such meals." (Id-) 

Each month, after incurring business expenses, IBT employees were obligated to 
submit an expense report listing the date, nature of the meeting or expense, the location, 
and the amount of expense incurred. (Ex. 9) The IBT required that all such expenses be 
properly documented, and that supporting receipts be attached to the report. (Id.) In 
signing the report, the employee verified that: 

I HAVE REVIEWED THE ABOVE LIST OF CHARGES. ALL CHARGES 
ARE VALID EXCEPT AS NOTED UNDER THE EXCEPTIONS. ALL 
CHARGES INCURRED WERE FOR INTERNATIONAL UNION BUSINESS. 
NO ITEMS ARE OF A PERSONAL NATURE. 

(Id.) 
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2. Teolis' Misuse of His IBT Credit Card 
As a Project Organizer, Teolis received an IBT credit card. According to Teolis' 

letter of appointment: 
The credit card is a limited use credit card for travel expenses, meals and 
pre-approved organizing expenses. At all times all expenses must comply 
with the IBT's travel policy, a copy of which will be forwarded to Brother 
Teolis. Expenses placed on the credit card must be supported by receipts 
with notations on the back and other documentation, if available. 

(Ex. 3 at 2) Teolis made extensive use of his IBT credit card while he was a Project 
Coordinator. Indeed, during the period July 2003 to May 2005, Teolis billed 
approximately $44,071.76 to his credit card for meals alone. (Ex. 10A, B, C) 

According to Celia Petty, deputy director of the IBT's organizing department, 
Teolis' business meal expenses were "4 or 5 times higher than any other IBT organizer." 
(Ex. 11) On approximately November 11, 2004, Jeff Farmer, the director of the IBT's 
organizing department, informed Teolis that his business meal expenses were excessive. 
(Id.; Ex. 12). Teolis assured Farmer that he would "substantially cut" his meals spending. 
(Ex. 11) 

On approximately January 4, 2005, Farmer advised Teolis that his scheduled 
raise would be delayed because, among other reasons, of his "excessive spending" on 
meals and other expenses. (Ex. 13) On April 18, 2005, Farmer informed Teolis that he 
would be terminated effective May 20, 2005. (Ex. 6) Among the reasons Farmer cited 
was "excessive spending in spite of numerous warnings." (Id.) 

In his expense records, Teolis repeatedly represented that he had bought meals for 
Local 251 members, officers and business agents in the conduct of IBT business. Among 
these individuals were Paul Griffin, Michael Simone, Jim Croce, Brian Carroll, Dave 
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Demuth, Steven Labrie, Joe Boyajian, and Joseph Bairos. On a total of at least 130 
occasions, Teolis falsely represented that various of these persons joined him for business 
meals. In thirty-five of those instances, but for the false assertion that these persons were 
present, Teolis' meal expenses exceeded the IBT's permissible limits. Limiting the 
charge to those latter instances, Teolis embezzled at least $2,209.88 from the IBT. (Ex. 
41) 1 

a. Paul Griffin (45 times) 
Paul Griffin is a Local 251 member who works as a full-time freight driver for a 

chemical distribution company. (Ex. 14 at 8-9) He has been an IBT member since 1973. 
(Id. at 7) In approximately 2003, Griffin met Teolis outside the union setting and the two 
became friends. (Id- at 11-13) Griffin and Teolis occasionally socialized together, and 
Griffin attended Teolis' wedding. (Id. at 14) 

In 2004, Teolis asked Griffin if he would like to work as a volunteer on an 
organizing campaign involving Waste Management Inc. (Ex. 14 at 10-11) Griffin 
agreed, and traveled to Charlestown, Massachusetts twice, where he took part in "house 
calls." (Id. at 18-19). Griffin also participated in house calls relating to the Electric Boat 
campaign. (Id. at 19). Griffin did all of his volunteer organizing for the Local on 
weekends. (Id. at 9) Griffin was present several times when Teolis took individuals to 
dinner at a restaurant, and they talked about organizing. (Id. at 22-23) Griffin was also 
present when Teolis bought donuts or pizza for organizers meetings at the Local 251 hall. 
(Id. at 31-32) 

1 The amounts embezzled were calculated by excluding the absent individual and then 
calculating the maximum amount which Teolis would have been allowed under IBT 
policy to spend for the remaining individuals. The difference between the latter number 
and the amount Teolis actually spent equaled the sum embezzled. 
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Teolis' expense reports indicated that Griffin was present for business meals at 
least fifty-eight times over the period August 6, 2003 and March 26, 2005. (Ex. 15) 
Griffin testified that he was present on no more than thirteen of those occasions. (Ex. 14 
at 25-34; Ex. 41) Griffin described Teolis' records as a "fraud." (Id- at 25) 

b. Michael Simone (26 times) 
Michael Simone has been a Local 251 member since approximately 1979. (Ex. 

16 at 5-6) He previously worked for a beer distributor. (Id-at 7) In 2003, Simone left 
that company, and thereafter worked as a casual employee out of the Local 251 union 
hall. (Id- at 16) 

Simone first met Teolis in approximately the late 1980's through union activities. 
(Ex. 16 at 14) Over time Simone and Teolis became more friendly. (Id. at 14-15) In 
2004, soon after the Electric Boat campaign started, Teolis asked Simone if he would like 
to work as a volunteer on the campaign. (Id. at 15) Simone agreed. (Id. at 15-16) 
Simone typically did the volunteer work on Saturdays. (Id. at 16) 

Teolis' expense reports indicated that Simone was present for business meals at 
least forty-seven times over the period August 8, 2004 and May 6, 2005. (Ex. 17) Thirty-
three of those charges were for meals at sit-down restaurants; the rest were at pizza, donut 
or sandwich shops in the Providence area. (Id-) Simone testified that Teolis paid for 
Simone's meals at a restaurant with a union credit card seven times. (Ex. 16 at 18-19, 20-
24; Ex. 41) Simone stated that it was possible he was present when Teolis bought pizza, 
sandwiches, and other food for meetings at the Local 251 union hall. (Id. at 25-26) 

c. Jim Croce (17 times) 
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Jim Croce is a Local 251 member who works as a tractor-trailer driver for a motor 
carrier company. (Ex. 5 at 6-7) He has been Local 251 's Vice President for 
approximately two years. (Id. at 7) Croce worked as a volunteer on the Electric Boat 
campaign. (Id. at 9) This involved meeting with Electric Boat employees at a restaurant 
near the Electric plant. (Id- at 9-10) According to Croce, Teolis used his union credit 
card to buy meals for Croce twice. (Id. at 13) Several other times, Teolis paid for pizza, 
donuts or coffee for meetings at the union hall. (Id. at 22-23) 

Teolis' expense reports indicated that Croce was present for business meals at 
least forty-five times over the period June 16, 2004 to February 26, 2005. (Ex. 18) 
Croce testified that he was definitely not present at least seventeen times that Teolis so 
listed him. (Ex. 5 at 17-23; Ex. 41) 

d. Brian Carroll (11 times) 
Brian Carroll is a Local 251 business agent. (Ex. 19 at 5) He joined the IBT in 

approximately 1969. (Id-) Carroll met Teolis in approximately 1993. (Id-at 9) Teolis 
had volunteered to work on some organizing drives that Carroll conducted. (Id. at 9-10) 
Carroll and Teolis became friends and socialized together. (Id. at 10) Carroll attended 
Teolis' wedding. (Id. at 10-11) Carroll supported Teolis' efforts to become an IBT 
organizer. (Id- at 11-12) 

Teolis' expense reports indicated that Carroll was present for business meals at 
least eleven times between September 12, 2003 and April 19, 2005. (Ex. 20) Carroll 
denied that he was present on any of these occasions. (Ex. 19 at 17-19Ex. 41) 

e. Dave Demuth (10 times) 
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Dave Demuth is Local 251 's Recording Secretary. (Ex. 21 at 10) He joined the 
IBT in approximately 1987. (Id.) He served as a paid Local 251 organizer on the 
Electric Boat campaign. (Id. at 13-14) Demuth testified that he did not get along with 
Teolis. (Id. at 20) 

Teolis' expense reports indicated that Demuth was present for business meals at 
least twenty-two times over the period April 23, 2004 and May 6, 2005. (Ex. 22) 
Twelve of those charges were for meals at Pelly's; all but two of the rest were at sit-down 
restaurants. (Id.) Demuth testified that he may have been at Pelly's each of those times. 
(Ex. 21 at 28-29) Demuth testified that he was not present any of the other times 
indicated in Teolis' reports. (Id. at 18-21 Ex. 41) 

f. Steven Labrie (10 times) 
Steven Labrie is a Local 251 business agent. (Ex. 23 at 6) He joined the IBT in 

1968. (Id-) Labrie initiated the Electric Boat organizing drive. (Id-at 8-9). Stuart 
Mundy, then Local 251 's principal officer, stated that Labrie should try to keep the 
Electric Boat employees' interest until Mundy could get a full-time IBT organizer 
involved. (Id. at 9) Later, Mundy circulated a memo stating that as of September 2004, 
Teolis was in charge of the Electric Boat campaign. (Id.) 

In September 2004, Labrie introduced Teolis to Labrie's contacts at Electric Boat. 
(Ex. 23 at 10-11) After that, Labrie had no further role in the campaign and no further 
dealings with Teolis. (Id- at 10-11, 16-17) 

Teolis' expense reports indicated that Labrie was present for business meals at 
least fifteen times over the period June 24, 2004 to January 29, 2005. (Ex. 24) Labrie 
testified that he was present at Pelly's no more than four or five times. (Ex. 23 at 18-19) 
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Labrie stated that he was not present on any of the other occasions indicated in Teolis' 
reports. (Id- at 15-17; Ex. 41) 

g. Joe Boyajian (8 times) 
Joe Boyajian is a Local 251 business agent. (Ex. 25 at 6) He joined the IBT in 

1974. (Id.) Boyajian did not work on the Electric Boat campaign. (Id. at 15) 
Teolis' expense reports indicated that Boyajian was present for business meals at least 
eight times over the period December 27, 2003 to December 23, 2004. (Ex. 26) 
Boyajian denied that he was present on any of those occasions. (Ex. 25 at 18-19; Ex. 41) 

h. Joseph Bairos (3 times) 
Joseph Bairos is Local 251 's Secretary-Treasurer and principal officer. (Ex. 27 at 

7) He joined the IBT in 1977. (Ex. 28) Teolis' expense reports indicated that Bairos 
was present for business meals at least three times over the period July 30, 2004 to 
December 22, 2004. (Ex. 29) Bairos testified that he was not present on any of those 
occasions. (Ex. 27 at 35-36, 39-41; Ex. 41) 

C. Teolis' Failure to Cooperate With the IRB 
On April 4, 2007, the Chief Investigator conducted a sworn examination of 

Teolis. (Ex. 4) The focus of the examination was Teolis' duties and responsibilities as a 
Project Coordinator, his participation in the effort to unionize professional boxers, and his 
dealings with an individual who was allegedly a member of La Cosa Nostra. 

On June 7, 2007, a notice of sworn examination was sent to Teolis' address via 
U.S. Express Mail scheduling the continuation of his swom examination for June 21, 
2007. (Ex. 30) The Chief Investigator's Office received the signed return receipt, 
indicating that the letter was received at Teolis' address on June 8, 2007. (Ex. 31) At 
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this examination, the Chief Investigator's Office intended to question Teolis, among 
other things, about business expense reports he submitted to the IBT which indicated that 
certain individuals were present, when allegedly those persons were absent. 

On June 19, 2007, Teolis informed the Chief Investigator's Office by telephone 
that he would not attend the sworn examination, scheduled for June 21, 2007, because he 
had not been able to retain an attorney. (Ex. 32) The Chief Investigator's Office agreed 
to adjourn the examination until June 28, 2007, to give Teolis additional time to find an 
attorney. (Id.) The same day a letter was sent to Teolis' address via U.S. Express Mail 
confirming the adjournment. (Id.) 

On June 27, 2007, Teolis informed the Chief Investigator's Office by telephone 
that he would not attend his sworn examination, which was scheduled for the next day, 
because he was still unable to retain an attorney. (Ex. 33) The deposition was adjourned 
until July 10, 2007, in order to give Teolis more time to hire an attorney. (Id.) The same 
day, a letter was sent to Teolis' address via U.S. Express Mail confirming the 
adjournment. (Id-) 

On July 9, 2007, Teolis informed the Chief Investigator's Office by telephone that 
he would not attend his sworn examination, which was scheduled for the next day, 
because he had been unable to hire an attorney. (Ex. 34, 35) The examination was 
adjourned until July 24, 2007, in order to give Teolis more time to hire an attorney. (Ex. 
34) Teolis was informed that approximately seven persons had testified that they were 
not present on occasions that he had represented in his expense reports that they were 
present. (Id.) The same day, a letter was sent to Teolis' address via U.S. Express Mail 
confirming the conversation. (Id.) The letter stated that if Teolis did not appear on July 
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24, the Chief Investigator would recommend that Teolis be charged with failing to 
cooperate with the IRB, which could lead to his expulsion from the IBT. (Id.) 

On July 23, 2007, Teolis informed the Chief Investigator's Office that: he would 
not appear for his sworn examination, which was scheduled for the next day; he had hired 
William Murphy, Esq., of Providence, Rhode Island, to represent him in this matter; 
Teolis had given Murphy the pertinent files; and Murphy would be contacting Chief 
Investigator shortly to discuss Teolis' examination. (Ex. 36) The next day, a letter was 
sent to Teolis' address via U.S. Express Mail confirming the conversation. (Id.) 

On July 24, 2007 and July 25, 2007, the Chief Investigator's Office left telephone 
messages for Mr. Murphy with a receptionist at his Providence office. (Ex. 37) On July 
25, 2007, the Chief Investigator's Office sent a letter to Murphy's office by U.S. Express 
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Mail and facsimile relating the substance of the July 23, 2007 conversation with Teolis 
and asking that Murphy contact the Chief Investigator's Office to advise if he was 
representing Teolis. (Ex. 38) The Chief Investigator's Office received the signed return 
receipt, indicating that the letter was received at Teolis' address on July 26, 2007. (Ex. 
39) Murphy did not respond to the July 25, 2007 letter. 

On August 7, 2007, a letter was sent to Teolis' address via U.S. Express Mail 
scheduling the continuation of his sworn examination for August 29, 2007. (Ex. 37) The 
letter recounted the unsuccessful efforts of the Chief Investigator's Office to contact 
Teolis' purported attorney Murphy. The letter stated that Teolis was obligated to attend 
the sworn examination with or without counsel, and that if he did not appear, the Chief 
Investigator would recommend that Teolis be charged with failing to cooperate with the 
IRB. Several days later, the mailing envelope was returned to the Chief Investigator's 
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Office unopened. (Ex. 40) According to the mailing label, the U.S. Postal Service 
attempted to deliver the letter to Teolis' residence on August 9, 2007 and August 10, 
2007, but the letter was "unclaimed." 
IV. Analysis 

A. Teolis' Embezzlement of Union Funds 
The IBT Constitution prohibits embezzlement or conversion of union funds. IBT 

Const. Art XIX, Section 7(b) (3). The standard for embezzlement under federal labor 
law, 29 U.S.C. § 501(c), is instructive in interpreting the IBT Constitutional provisions. 
Investigations Officer v. Calagna, Decision of the Independent Administrator at 11 (May 
9, 1991), aff d. United States v. IBT, 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11256, 141 L.R.R.M. 2236 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 1991). For Teolis to have committed embezzlement, it must be 
established that he acted with fraudulent intent to deprive the IBT of its funds. See 
United States v. IBT (Giacumbo). 951 F. Supp. 1113, 1133 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (citations 
and internal quotes omitted); United States v. Welch. 782 F.2d 1113, 1118 (8 t h Cir. 1989) 
(under any test, union officials violate Section 501(c) only when they possess fraudulent 
intent to deprive the Union of its funds"). 

In addressing the issue of fraudulent intent, "all of the evidence [must be] 
considered together . . . in light of all the surrounding circumstances." United States v. 
Welch, supra. 782 F.2d at 1119 (quoting Morrisette v. United States. 342 U.S. 246, 275-
76 (1951)). "[Circumstantial evidence may be used to prove the existence of fraudulent 
intent." United States v. IBT (Giacumbo). supra. 951 F. Supp. 1133 (citations omitted); 
see also Investigations Officer v. Caldwell. Decision of the Independent Administrator at 
7 (Feb. 9, 1993), a f f d . United States v. IBT. 831 F. Supp. 278 (S.D.N.Y. 1993). 
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The Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit has stated that the key factors in 
determining the issue of fraudulent intent are whether there was authorization from the 
union for the expenditure and a benefit to the union for the payments at issue. See, e.g.. 
United States v. Butler. 954 F.2d 114, 118 (2d Cir. 1992)). A union official charged with 
embezzling union funds, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 501(c), lacks the requisite criminal 
intent when the evidence establishes that he had a good-faith belief both that the funds 
were expended for the union's benefit and that the expenditures were authorized (or 
would be ratified) by the union. United States v. IBT (Wilson, Dickens & Weber), 978 
F.2d 68, 72 (2d Cir. 1992) (citing Butler, supra, 954 F.2d at 118)). 

There is ample evidence that Teolis knowingly submitted false expense records 
for the purpose of inducing the IBT to pay for meals whose cost exceeded prescribed 
limits. Teolis was aware of the IBT's business expense policy, as indicated by the many 
times he submitted expense reports for meals that fell within prescribed limits. He acted 
deliberately when he signed forms the IBT travel accounting department prepared listing 
his expenses each month, representing that he had reviewed the charges and that each of 
them was accurate. He falsified his expense records at least 130 times over a period 
lasting nearly two years. Teolis' sustained efforts to avoid testifying about his expense 
records, demonstrates his consciousness of guilt, as does his failure to appear. 
B. Teolis' Failure to Cooperate 

The court approved Rules and Procedures for Operation of the Independent 
Review Board for the International Brotherhood of Teamsters empower the Chief 
Investigator "To take and require sworn statements or sworn in-person examinations of 
any officer, member, employee, representative, or agent of the IBT, provided that the IRB 
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has given the person to be examined at least ten days advance notice in writing and also 
provided that the person to be examined has the right to be represented by an IBT 
member or legal counsel. . . . Failure to appear for a duly-noticed in-person examination 
shall be deemed a failure to cooperate fully with the IRB." (IRB Rules, Paragraph 
H(3)(c); H(7)). Additionally, Article XIX, Section 14(i) of the IBT Constitution 
provides: 

All officers, members, employees, and representatives of the International 
Union and its affiliated bodies shall cooperate fully with the Independent 
Review Board in the course of any investigation or proceeding undertaken 
by it. Unreasonable failure to cooperate with the Review Board shall be 
deemed to be conduct which brings reproach upon the Union, and which is 
thereby within the Review Board's investigatory and decisional authority. 

The failure to cooperate with the IRB is grounds for disciplinary charges against IBT 
members. 

Here, as explained above, Teolis, knowing that the Chief Investigator intended to 
question him about his business meal expense records, failed to cooperate with the IRB 
by repeatedly delaying his sworn examination and then failing to appear for his scheduled 
examination. 
V. PROPOSED CHARGES 

Based upon the foregoing, it is recommended that IBT Local 251 member Glen 
Teolis be charged as follows: 

A. Charge One 
While a member of Local 251 and an employee of the IBT, you brought reproach 

upon the IBT, violated your fiduciary duties to the members, and embezzled IBT funds to 
your own use and the use of others, and in violation of Article II, Section 2(a) and Article 
XIX, Section 7(b) (1), (2) and (3) of the IBT Constitution, to wit, 
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Between approximately July 26, 2003 and May 18, 2005, while an IBT Project 
Coordinator, you embezzled at least $2,209.88 from the IBT, as described in the report 
above. 

B. Charge Two 
While a member of Local 251, you brought reproach upon the IBT in violation of 

Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1) and (2) and Section 14(i) of the 
IBT Constitution and obstructed, interfered and unreasonably failed to cooperate with the 
duties of the Independent Review Board as set forth in Paragraph G of the March 14, 
1989 Consent Order in United States v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters, 88 Civ. 
4486 (S.D.N.Y.), as explained in the report above. 
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Exhibits To The Charge Report Involving Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 1 LM-2 form for Local 251 for 2006 
Ex. 2 Dues payments statement for Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 3 July 1, 2003 letter from Jeff Farmer to Stuart Mundy 
Ex. 4 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Glenn Teolis on April 4, 2007 
Ex. 5 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Jim Croce on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 6 April 18, 2005 letter from Jeff Farmer to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 7 IBT Travel and Business Related Expense Policies (July 1, 2001) 
Ex. 8 IBT Travel and Business Related Expense Policies (September 1, 2004) 
Ex. 9 Sample expense report of Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 10 A, Summary list of Teolis' credit card expenses 

B, & C 
Ex. 11 11/03/04 e-mail from Celia Petty to Rose Marx and Susie Jordan 
Ex. 12 3/10/05 e-mail from Celia Petty to Jeff Farmer 
Ex. 13 1/4/04 letter from Jeff Farmer to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 14 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Paul Griffin on April 4, 2007 
Ex. 15 Expense records referencing Paul Griffin 
Ex. 16 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Michael Simone on April 4, 2007 
Ex. 17 Expense records referencing Michael Simone 
Ex. 18 Expense records referencing Jim Croce 
Ex. 19 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Brian Carroll on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 20 Expense records referencing Brian Carroll 
Ex. 21 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Dave Demuth on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 22 Expense records referencing Demuth 
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Ex. 23 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Steve Labrie on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 24 Expense records referencing Steve Labrie 
Ex. 25 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Joe Boyajian on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 26 Expense records referencing Joe Boyajian 
Ex. 27 Transcript of IRB sworn statement of Joseph Bairos on April 5, 2007 
Ex. 28 Dues payments statement for Joseph Bairos 
Ex. 29 Expense records referencing Joseph Bairos 
Ex. 30 Notice of sworn examination of Glenn Teolis dated June 7, 2007 
Ex. 31 Return receipt for notice of sworn examination of Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 32 June 19, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 33 June 27, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 34 July 9, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 35 July 9, 2007 memorandum from Donald Schwally to Charles Carberry 
Ex. 36 July 24, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 37 August 7, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 38 July 25, 2007 letter from Peter C. Sprung to William J. Murphy, Esq. 
Ex. 39 Return receipt for July 25, 2007 letter to William J. Murphy, Esq. 
Ex. 40 Envelope and return receipt for August 7, 2007 letter to Glenn Teolis 
Ex. 41 Schedule listing expenses Glenn Teolis embezzled from the IBT and 

accompanying restaurant receipts 
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Chief Investigator: 

Charles M . Carberry, Esq. 
17 Battery Place, Suite 331 
New York, NY 10004 

Administrator: 
John J. Cronin, Jr. 

I N D E P E N D E N T REVIEW BOARD 
444 North Capitol Street, NW, Suite 528 

Washington, D C 20001 
(202)434-8080 

Facsimile (202) 434-8084 
Corruption Hotline (800) CALL IRB 

February 12, 2 008 

Board Members: 
Benjamin R. Civiletti, Esq. 

Venable LLP 
575 7th Street, N W 

Washington, D C 20004 

Joseph E. diGenova, Esq. 
diGenova &Toensing, LLP 

1776 K Street, NW, Suite 737 
Washington, D C 20006 

William H. Webster, Esq. 
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP 

1850 K Street, NW, Suite 1100 
Washington, DC.20006 

James P. Hoffa, General President 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters 
25 Louisiana Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20001 

Re: Decision on Charges Against Local 251 
Member Glenn Teolis 

Dear Mr. Hoffa: 

The Independent Review Board has reviewed your decision of 
January 16, 2008, in the above captioned matter, and finds the 
decision to be not inadequate. 

Very truly yours, 

Members of the 
Independent Review Board 

By: 
Cronin, Jr, 

istrator 

cc: Members of the IBT General Executive Board 
Charles M. Carberry, Esq. 
Bradley T. Raymond, Esq. 
Glenn Teolis 

Pursuant to the Consent Order of the United States District Court, S.D.N.Y. 
United States -v- International Brotherhood of Teamsters 88 CIV. 4486 (LAP) 
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INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF T E A M S T E R S 
JAMES P. HOFFA 
General President 

25 Louisiana Avenue, N W 

Washington, DC 20001 

C.THOMAS KEEGEL 
General Secretary-Treasurer 

202.624.6800 
www.teamster.org 

January 16, 2008 

BY U P S NEXT DAY AIR 
Mr. Glenn Teolis 
55 Falcon Lane 
Cranston, RI 02921 

Re: Panel Report and Recommendations 
Dear Sir and Brother: 

You will find enclosed the Report and Recommendations of the Panel that 
conducted the hearings on the charges filed against you. I have had the 
opportunity to review the Panel's findings and conclusions, and hereby adopt them 
as my own. 

The Panel's recommendation is reissued as the decision of the General 
President. 

Fraternally yours, 

1/yyilo 
mes P. Hoffa 

General President 
JPH/jlb 
Enclosure 
cc: Hearing Panel 

Roland Acevedo, Esq. 
Local Union 251 
Independent Review Board 

( 
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REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF HEARING PANEL 
APPOINTED BY THE GENERAL PRESIDENT TO HEAR CHARGES 

AGAINST LOCAL 251 MEMBER GLENN TEOLIS 

Introduction 
On October 22, 2007, the Independent Review Board ("IRB") issued a 

report and recommendation to International Brotherhood of Teamsters ("IBT") 
General President James P. Hoffa that Glenn Teolis, a member of Local 251 in 
East Providence, Rhode Island be charged with bringing reproach upon the IBT by 
(1) violating his fiduciary duty to members when he embezzled IBT funds for his 
own use and the use of others and (2) unreasonably failed to cooperate with the 
Independent Review Board. The General President filed the charge as 
recommended by the IRB and appointed a Hearing Panel ("Panel") consisting of 
Charles Byrnes, Secretary-Treasurer of Local 926, Albert R. Mixon, Secretary-
Treasurer of Local 507, and Michael H. Goebel, Secretary-Treasurer of Local 688. 

By letter dated November 21, 2007, the General President notified Brother 
Teolis that a hearing on the charges had been scheduled for January 3, 2008. On 
Friday, December 28, 2007, John N. Calvino, Esq., wrote to the IBT's General 
Counsel that he had been engaged by Brother Teolis and was requesting that the 
hearing be postponed. The Panel considered and denied the postponement request 
on January 2, 2008, since by the time the Panel members were aware of it they 
were already traveling to the hearing. A hearing was accordingly convened on 
January 3, 2008, at Teamsters Local 251, Neither Brother Teolis nor his attorney 
appeared. The IBT was represented at the hearing by attorney Roland Acevedo, 
Esq. 

The following findings and recommendations of the Panel are based on the 
entire record in this case, including a transcript of testimony provided by Brother 
Teolis during IRB's investigation and other documents identified as exhibits in 
IRB's report. As indicated, Brother Teolis did not appear to contest the charges or 
challenge the evidence. 

Background 
Brother Teolis has been a member of Local 251 since 1998. He was hired as 

a project organizer on July 7, 2003. For this assignment, he was carried on Local 
251's payroll, but the IBT reimbursed Local 251 for his salary and benefits. He 



took his direction from the IBT's Organizing Department and his business related 
expenses (for travel, meals, etc.) were paid by the IBT in accordance with the 
IBT's travel and business related expense policy. 

Teolis's employment as a project organizer was terminated effective on May 
20, 2005. This action was taken, in part, because of a persistent pattern of 
excessive expenses charged on his IBT issued credit card. 

Charges Against Teolis 
The IRB recommended charges against Brother Teolis, which were adopted 

and filed by the IBT, allege that while employed as a project organizer Teolis 
"embezzled approximately $2,209.88 from the IBT by falsely representing in his 
business expense records that certain persons were present for meals [for which he 
caused the IBT to pay], when in fact they were absent." They also allege that 
Teolis failed to cooperate with the IRB by failing to appear for a continuation of 
his sworn examination. The facts supporting these allegations are summarized in 
the IRB's report. 

Embezzlement allegations 
Under the IBT's travel and business related expense policy, Teolis was 

required to submit monthly expense reports listing each business related expense 
incurred, the date, nature of meeting or expense, location and the amount 
expended. He was also required to certify that each charge was valid and incurred 
for a Union related purpose. From July of 2003 until May of 2005, when his 
employment as a project organizer was terminated, Teolis caused the IBT to spend 
approximately $44,071.76 on meals. 

As indicated above, Teolis' employment as a project organizer was 
terminated in May of 2005 because of "excessive spending" on meals and other 
expenses. This occurred after a number of attempts by the Organizing Department 
to get Teolis to curtail his spending. The IRB's investigation disclosed that in a 
number of instances Teolis' expenses were not merely "excessive"; they involved 
falsified reports indicating that persons were present during a number of meals for 
which Teolis caused the IBT to pay when in fact these persons were not present. 
This conclusion is supported by the testimony of eight Local 251 officers, business 
agents and members, which is summarized in the IRB's report. 
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The IRB calculated the amount of fraudulent expenses incurred by Teolis as 
at least $2,209.88 by taking the amount by which Teolis' charges exceeded the 
maximum meal expenses for himself in those instances in which his expense 
reports falsely identified persons as having been present when, in fact, they were 
not present. 

Failure to cooperate allegations 
Brother Teolis submitted to a sworn examination conducted by the IRB's 

Office of the Chief Investigator on April 4, 2007. Beginning on June 7, 2007, the 
Chief Investigator attempted to schedule a continuation of the examination. The 
IRB's report chronicles a pattern of conduct by which Teolis deliberately 
obfuscated and evaded his participation in the continued examination. This 
conduct included the following: 

• On June 19, 2007, Teolis telephoned the Office of the Chief 
Investigator and stated he would not attend the examination scheduled 
for June 21, 2007, because he had not been able to retain an attorney. 
The examination was adjourned to June 28, 2007, so that Teolis could 
find an attorney. 

• On June 27, 2007, Teolis telephoned the Office of the Chief 
Investigator and stated he would not attend the examination scheduled 
for the next day because he was still unable to retain an attorney. The 
examination was adjourned to July 10, 2007, so that Teolis could have 
more time to find an attorney. 

• On July 9, 2007, Teolis telephoned the Office of the Chief 
Investigator and stated he would not attend the examination scheduled 
for the next day because he had been unable to retain an attorney. The 
examination was adjourned to July 24, 2007, in a written 
communication which, among other things, indicates that the 
continued examination would cover the fact that "approximately 
seven persons had testified that they were not present on occasions 
that your expense reports stated that they were present." 

• On July 23, 2007, Teolis informed the Office of the Chief Investigator 
that he would not attend the examination scheduled for the next day. 
He said he had retained a Providence attorney and provided the 
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attorney's name. He also stated that the attorney would be contacting 
the Chief Investigator to discuss the examination. 

• Calls and a written communication to the attorneys' office by the 
Office of Chief Investigator yielded no response. On August 7, 2007, 
Teolis was informed in writing that his examination had been 
rescheduled for August 29, 2007. This communication was sent by 
U.S. Express Mail, but was returned "unclaimed." 

• Teolis did not appear for his sworn examination on August 29, 2007. 
Analysis 

As indicated, Brother Teolis did not attend the hearing before the Hearing 
Panel, and thus has not contested the charges or the underlying factual allegations. 
The factual allegations summarized above are thus undisputed. 

Embezzlement 
Article XIX, Section 7 (b) (3) prohibits a member from "[b]reaching a 

fiduciary obligation owed to any labor organization by any act of embezzlement or 
conversion of union's funds or property." The facts here amply support the 
conclusion that Teolis acted with fraudulent intent when he caused the IBT to pay 
for meal expenses exceeding the personal limit and submitted false expense reports 
certifying that the meal expenses were for proper Union purposes and that certain 
persons were in attendance at the meals when, in fact, they were not present. In 
this regard, the testimony of eight Local 251 members, officers and business agents 
that they did not attend meals that Teolis had listed them as attending compels the 
conclusion that Teolis's expense reports were falsified. His failure and refusal to 
appear for the continuation of his sworn examination, particularly after being 
informed that it would cover allegations of falsified expense reports, likewise 
supports the inference that Teolis embezzled Union funds with fraudulent intent. 

This conduct violated Article II, Section 2 (a) and Article XIX, Section 7 (b) 
(1), (2) and (3) of the IBT Constitution. 

Failure to cooperate 
After almost 20 years of living with the Consent Decree, there is no basis for 

any member of the IBT to dispute that "[c]ooperation by all IBT members with the 
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IBT is essential if the Consent Decree is to serve its intended purpose." Michael C. 
Bane, Opinion and Decision of IRB, 7-17-01, page 21. Here, it is clear that Teolis 
intentionally failed to appear for the continuation of his sworn examination -
repeatedly. 

This conduct likewise violated the IBT Constitution, as well as Paragraph G 
of the Consent Decree. 

Recommended Penalties 
Consistent with the "just cause" standard embedded in the Consent Decree, 

and the commonly accepted corollary that discipline must be "reasonably related" 
to the seriousness of the offense, the Panel recommends the following penalties 
against Teolis: 

1. That Teolis be permanently barred from holding elected or appointed 
office or employment with the IBT or any IBT affiliate. 

2. That Teolis be permanently expelled from membership in the IBT. 
3. That Teolis be fined in the amount of $2,209.88, the amount he is 

found to have embezzled from the IBT. 
In recommending these penalties, the Panel has considered the discipline 

imposed by other panels and the IRB in other cases involving embezzlement of 
Union funds as well as for failure to cooperate with the IRB. In particular, the 
Panel notes that in general the penalties when a member fails to cooperate with the 
IRB by failing to appear for a sworn examination, particularly when the failure is 
repeated, have almost invariably included a permanent bar from Union office or 
employment and permanent expulsion from membership. Here, Teolis has offered 
no mitigating or extenuating circumstances or explanations for his conduct which 
would cause us to recommend departure from the traditional penalties for non-
cooperation with the IRB. With respect to embezzlement, the Panel notes that the 
penalties imposed for embezzlement have generally ranged from suspensions to 
permanent expulsions and have often been accompanied by a fine in an amount 
equivalent to the amount embezzled. In these circumstances, the Panel 
recommends that Teolis be fined in addition to being permanently barred. 
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Conclusion 
Accordingly, based on the foregoing, the Panel recommends the following: 
1. That effective immediately Brother Teolis be permanently barred 

from seeking or holding office, position or employment, directly or 
indirectly, with the IBT or any other IBT affiliated entity or fund. 

2. That effective immediately Brother Teolis be prohibited from seeking 
or accepting money or other compensation from the IBT, or any other 
IBT affiliated entity or fund, except for any vested benefits to which 
he may otherwise be lawfully entitled by reason of service or 
employment prior to the date of this decision, and that he also be 
prohibited from receiving or having any contributions made on his 
behalf to any IBT affiliated benefit funds by any IBT affiliated entity, 
except to the extent such contributions relate to service or 
employment prior to the date of this decision. 

3. That effective immediately Brother Teolis be permanently barred 
from holding membership in the IBT and shall also be barred from all 
contact or association with officers, members, employees, 
representatives and agents of the IBT or any IBT affiliated entity or 
fund. 

SO UNANIMOUSLY DECIDED AND RECOMMENDED on January 
2008. 

By 
Charles M. Byrnes 

By 
Albert R. Mixon 

By 
Michael H. Goebel 
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